
Josiah L. Parrish (1806–1895)
By William L. Lang

Josiah Parrish played a central role in foundational activities at the Methodist Mission in the
Willamette Valley as a circuit rider, as an Indian Agent on the Oregon Coast, and as a participant in
the formation of the Oregon Provisional Government. He was also a successful farmer and was
responsible for introducing white clover and Merino sheep to Oregon. His name is on the Oregon
landscape in northeast Salem at the Josiah L. Parrish Middle School, located on his Oregon
Donation Land Law claim.

Josiah L. Parrish was born on January 14, 1806, in Onondaga County, New York, where he trained
to be a blacksmith and worked on the Erie Canal. The religious camp-meeting enthusiasm in the
region, often styled the “Burned-Over-District” because of its many revivals, captured his attention
and energy, and by the early 1830s he had become a Methodist preacher. In 1839, he responded
to the church’s call for Christians to serve as missionaries to Native tribes in the American West.
The next year the Board of Missions of the Methodist Church in New York selected him for
missionary duty in Oregon, and he soon boarded the Lausanne in New York with his wife and three
children, bound for Jason Lee’s Methodist mission in the Willamette Valley.

Initially laboring as a blacksmith, Parrish contributed to the 1842 relocation of the Methodist mission
south up the Willamette River from Mission Bottom (today’s Willamette Mission State Park) to
Salem. In 1843, Parrish participated in the meetings that created the Provisional Government of
Oregon. He also was assigned to the Indian mission at Clatsop Plains on the lower Columbia River,
where he immersed himself in learning Chinuk Wawa (also called Chinook Jargon). His knowledge
of the regional trade language would be an asset when he was a federal Indian agent during the
1850s.

Willamette Mission closed in 1846, and the next year Parrish took up work as a preacher on the
Yamhill Circuit on the west side of the Willamette River from Portland to Marysville (present-day
Corvallis). “It was hard,” Parrish told an interviewer later in life, “it was all horse trails. I preached to
Indians and to the whites.” In 1848, he added to his responsibilities a second circuit on the east side
of the Willamette, from Oregon City to the Santiam River. In 1853, Parrish was one of three
missionaries who drew up a prospectus for the Oregon Institute, a school of higher education for
white pupils. The school was renamed Willamette University in 1853, and he served several terms
as president of the school’s board of trustees from 1869 to 1879.

In 1851, Parrish was hired as a sub-Indian agent under Anson Dart, Oregon’s territorial
superintendent of Indian Affairs. He served as an interpreter for Dart’s treaty councils with
Willamette Valley and coastal tribes. Parrish’s reputation for calm and honest engagement with
Native headmen led Joel Palmer—Dart’s replacement as superintendent—to select him as a
sub-Indian agent in spring 1853; he was promoted to primary agent status in 1854. Although
Parrish was an agent for only seventeen months, Palmer sent him to two of the superintendency’s
most difficult agencies—Port Orford on the south coast and The Dalles east of the Cascade
Mountains—because of his ability to dampen combustible and dangerous situations between
whites and tribes. He resigned in the fall of 1854 to care for his ailing wife.

Parrish was also an entrepreneur. During the early 1860s, he owned a stationery and book store in
Portland on a lot he had purchased from Francis Pettygrove in 1849. The river lot became the focus
of a lawsuit Parrish brought in 1850 against Daniel Lownsdale, who had built on riverfront property
that blocked Parrish’s view. The question was whether the riverfront should be considered public
property, as Parrish maintained, or private property, as Lownsdale claimed. Parrish won the case,
and Lownsdale appealed the decision to the Oregon Supreme Court—which ruled in Parrish’s
favor—and then the U.S. Supreme Court, which dismissed the case on procedural grounds in 1858.
In the end, Parrish had won his point in court only to lose the argument when Portland’s city council
privatized the riverfront in 1861.

By 1864, Parrish had built a three-story building on the corner of Front Avenue and Washington
Street that featured a cast iron front. In 1867, he made his twenty-nine year-old son, Samuel B.
Parrish, a partner in the enterprise. Parrish continued in his business activities until retirement in



1879 and remained close to Willamette University. For the next sixteen years he was chaplain to
the Oregon Penitentiary.

Parrish married Elizabeth Winn in 1833 and had four sons (the oldest died in 1840); she died in
1869. In 1870, he married Jane Lichenthaler, and they had two daughters; she died in 1877. He
married Martha Hiatt in 1888; she died in 1933. Josiah Parrish died in Salem on May 31, 1895. He
was buried in the Lee Mission Cemetery in Salem, a Methodist cemetery built on land donated by
Josiah and Elizabeth Parrish in 1869.
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